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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v.

DAVID TRESCH 
 

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

CASE NUMBER: 

UNDER SEAL

I, the undersigned complainant, being duly sworn on oath, state that the following is true and correct to the

best of my knowledge and belief.  Beginning no later than in or around April 2011 and continuing until on or about

June 28, 2012, at Chicago, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, defendant did:

knowingly devise and intend to devise a scheme to defraud and to obtain money from the Victim
Firm by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, and material
omissions, and that for the purpose of executing the scheme to defraud, caused to be sent and
delivered by the U.S. Postal Service according to direction thereon to the Vendor Firm, PO Box 464,
Itasca, IL, 60143 a check dated November 2, 2011 in the amount of $56,250 for work that defendant
falsely represented was performed at the Victim Firm,

 

in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341. 

I further state that I am a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation, and that this complaint

is based on the facts contained in the Affidavit which is attached hereto and incorporated herein.

                                                                                
Signature of Complainant
A. WESLEY NEVENS
Special Agent, Federal Bureau of Investigation

Sworn to before me and subscribed in my presence,

August 29, 2012  at
Date 

Chicago, Illinois                            
City and State 

SIDNEY I. SCHENKIER, U.S. Magistrate Judge           
Name & Title of Judicial Officer

                                                                                                    
Signature of Judicial Officer
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
    ) SS 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) 
 

I, A. Wesley Nevens, first being duly sworn, state the following under oath: 

 INTRODUCTION 

1.   I am a special agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) and have been 

so employed for approximately 2 years.  I am currently assigned to the Chicago Division of the 

FBI.  As part of my assigned duties, I investigate violations of federal criminal law, including 

violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 (mail fraud) and 1343 (wire fraud).  

2.  The following statements are based on my personal knowledge, conversations 

with other law enforcement officers and witnesses, as well as records obtained from various 

sources.  The information contained in this affidavit is submitted for the limited purpose of 

establishing probable cause to: (a) arrest David Tresch (“Tresch”); (b) seize funds not to exceed 

$26,653.94 contained in Itasca Bank checking account x3702, held in the name of Tresch and his 

wife (“the Tresch Itasca account”); (c) seize funds not to exceed $203,623.49 contained in 

Discover online savings account x4693, held in the name of Tresch (“the Tresch Discover 

account”); (d) seize one 2011 Coleman Niagara RV camping trailer (VIN 

4CG633H10B7227300); (e) seize one 2012 Chevrolet Express G3500 van (VIN 

1GAZG1FG7C1103369); (f) seize one 2011 Cadillac DTS (VIN 1G6KH5E66BU128432); and 

(g) seize one 2011 Stone Canyon Lodge park model cabin (VIN SCL1399AL).  The foregoing 

accounts, vehicles, and personal property constitute and are derived from proceeds traceable to 

violations of the mail fraud statute.  Because of the limited purpose of this affidavit, it does not 

contain all of the information that I have gathered during the investigation. 
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OVERVIEW 

3. I submit that evidence, further described below, provides probable cause to 

believe that beginning no later than in or around April 2011 and continuing until on or about 

June 28, 2012, Tresch engaged in a scheme to defraud his former employer (“the Victim Firm”), 

by causing the Victim Firm to use the U.S. Postal Service to mail checks totaling nearly 

$1,000,000 to a third party contractor (“the Vendor Firm”) for work that Tresch knew the 

Vendor Firm did not perform.  The Vendor Firm then provided Tresch with checks totaling over 

$850,000 of the money it had fraudulently received from the Victim Firm.  Tresch deposited the 

money he received from the Vendor Firm in various bank accounts, and used funds from those 

accounts to purchase and make payments on various vehicles.  As such, this Affidavit is 

submitted in support of a warrant for Tresch’s arrest, and warrants to seize various bank accounts 

and vehicles that are property constituting or derived from the proceeds of Tresch’s violation of 

the mail fraud statute. 

FACTS 

4. The Victim Firm is a global law firm headquartered in Chicago, Illinois that has 

offices in North America, South America, Europe, and Asia.  On May 10, 2004, the Victim Firm 

hired Tresch as a server operations manager in the firm’s Information Technology (“IT”) 

department.  On November 21, 2008, the Victim Firm promoted Tresch to the position of 

Director of Global Operations.  On July 1, 2011, Victim Firm promoted Tresch to the position of 

Chief Information Officer (“CIO”).   On June 28, 2012, the Victim Firm terminated Tresch.  At 

times during his employment, Tresch was responsible for reviewing invoices from, and 

authorizing payment to, the Vendor Firm that provided the Victim Firm with contract employees.    
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5. According to the Vendor Firm’s website, last checked on August 27, 2012, the 

Vendor Firm is based in Schaumburg, Illinois and provides personnel and technology to 

businesses to assist in office automation, web and database development, and general 

information technology.  According to records from the Illinois Secretary of State, the Vendor 

Firm was based in Itasca, Illinois, incorporated on or about December 11, 2003, and 

involuntarily dissolved on or about May 14, 2010.   

6. Based on records obtained from the Victim Firm, between November 2004 and 

March 2011, the Victim Firm paid the Vendor Firm for work performed by the Vendor Firm’s 

contract employees.  During that time, the Vendor Firm generally submitted monthly invoices to 

Tresch at the Victim Firm.  The invoices typically identified the contract employee by name, the 

number of hours the contract employee worked, and the hourly rate at which the Vendor Firm 

billed out the contract employee.  Tresch, in turn, requested that the Victim Firm pay the Vendor 

Firm invoices.   

7. Based on records from the Victim Firm, as a result of Tresch’s requests, between 

November 8, 2004 and March 28, 2011, the Victim Firm paid the Vendor Firm approximately 

$7,798,186.21 for work purportedly performed by the Vendor Firm contract employees.  The 

Victim Firm provided payment to the Vendor Firm by check, which the Vendor Firm deposited 

into its corporate account at Itasca Bank in Itasca, Illinois (“the Vendor Firm’s corporate 

account”).  Based on my review of the Vendor Firm’s corporate account, between November 

2004 and March 2011, over ninety-five percent of the Vendor Firm’s income came from the 

Victim Firm.   

8. Based on my review of the Vendor Firm’s corporate account, Tresch’s Itasca 

account and Tresch’s Discover account, between February 2005 and March 2011, the Vendor 



  
 4 

Firm paid both Tresch and his wife nearly $1,300,000, over fifteen percent of the money it 

received from the Victim Firm.  The invoices the Vendor Firm submitted to the Victim Firm did 

not list Tresch or his wife as contract employees.  The Victim Firm has no record of Tresch or 

his wife having worked as contract employees for the Vendor Firm.1  According to 

representatives of the Victim Firm, during his employment with the Victim Firm, Tresch never 

disclosed to the Victim Firm that both he and his wife had a financial interest in the Vendor 

Firm.   

9. Based on my review of the Vendor Firm’s corporate account and the Tresch 

Itasca account, between February 17, 2005 and March 21, 2011, the Vendor Firm paid Tresch 

approximately $171,900 via check.  Between April 24, 2006 and March 2011, the Vendor Firm 

paid Tresch’s wife approximately $1,129,521.61 via check.  During that time period, the Vendor 

Firm generally issued a check to Tresch’s wife every two weeks in amounts ranging from 

$2,410.46 to $8,839.42.  On or about December 14, 2006, the Vendor Firm issued a check to 

Tresch’s wife for $31,851.52.  In the memo line of the check, the Vendor Firm identified the 

check as a “bonus.”  Tresch generally deposited the Vendor Firm’s checks to him and his wife in 

the Tresch Itasca account.2      

10. According to Victim Firm Employee A, he joined the Victim Firm in 2008 as the 

Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) and was tasked, in part, with the responsibility of reducing 

costs at the Victim Firm.  As part of Victim Firm Employee A’s efforts, he directed that the 
                                            
1 On April 8, 2011, Tresch and his wife applied to finance their purchase of a 2011 Coleman Niagra RV Camping 
Trailer, VIN 4CG633H10B7227300.  The transaction is discussed in greater detail below.  In the application, Tresch 
and his wife provided information about their employment under penalty of perjury.  Tresch stated that he had 
worked for the Victim Firm for the previous seven years.  Tresch did not disclose any other employment.  Tresch’s 
wife stated that she was “unemployed” and left blank the section that asked for “previous employer if less than 2 
years at present employer.”   
 
2 On February 17, 2005 and June 28, 2005, the Vendor Firm issued checks to Tresch totaling $16,000.  To date, I 
have been unable to determine where Tresch deposited these particular checks.   
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Victim Firm no longer use the Vendor Firm or the Vendor Firm’s contract employees after 

February 28, 2011.  Victim Firm Employee A’s directive was communicated to Tresch by e-mail 

prior to February 28, 2011.   

11. Between April 21, 2011 and May 2, 2012, the Vendor Firm continued to submit 

invoices to Tresch at Victim Firm for work it purportedly performed for Victim Firm after 

February 28, 2011.  Victim Firm Employee B is the Assistant Director of Global IT, and as such 

is familiar with the work performed in the IT department throughout the Victim Firm.   Victim 

Firm Employee B told me that he reviewed the invoices the Vendor Firm submitted to the Victim 

Firm between April 21, 2011 and April 3, 2012.  Each of the invoices contains a general 

description of the work that was performed.  The invoices do not identify the dates on which the 

work was performed, the contract employees who performed the work, or the hours the contract 

employees worked.  According to Victim Firm Employee B, Vendor Firm did not perform the 

work claimed on the invoices.  Victim Firm Employee B explained that the work was either not 

done at all, was performed by internal Victim Firm staff, or performed by another third party 

vendor.   

12. Based on my review of the Victim Firm’s records, Tresch approved each invoice 

the Vendor Firm submitted to the Victim Firm between April 21, 2011 and May 2, 2012.  Tresch 

then requested that the Victim Firm issue a check to the Vendor Firm for each of the invoices.  

Tresch authorized and requested payment for the foregoing invoices knowing that the Vendor 

Firm was not permitted to perform work for the Victim Firm after February 28, 2011, and in fact 

had not performed the invoiced work for the Victim Firm.   Tresch engaged in the foregoing 

conduct in order to fraudulently obtain a portion of the Vendor Firm’s profits from its purported 

work for the Victim Firm.   
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13. As a result of Tresch’s requests, between May 2, 2011 and May 9, 2012, the 

Victim Firm issued checks totaling approximately $980,000 to the Vendor Firm.  Based on my 

review of the Vendor Firm’s corporate account, between May 2011 and May 2012, nearly one-

hundred percent of the Vendor Firm’s income came from the Victim Firm.  Based on my review 

of the Vendor Firm’s corporate account, the Tresch Itasca account, and the Tresch Discover 

account, I believe that the Vendor Firm paid Tresch nearly ninety percent of the funds it received 

from the Victim Firm between May 2011 and May 2012.   

14. More specifically, between May 27, 2011 and May 29, 2012, the Vendor Firm 

wrote 11 checks totaling $854,250 to Tresch.  Tresch deposited 10 of the checks totaling 

$810,250 into the Tresch Discover account.  Tresch deposited one check totaling $44,000 into 

the Tresch Itasca checking account.  Between June 6, 2011 and July 6, 2012, Tresch transferred 

approximately $556,000 from the Tresch Discover account to the Tresch Itasca account.   

15. Based on my conversations with Victim Firm Employee C, and e-mails provided 

by the Victim Firm, I believe that the Victim Firm mailed the checks it issued to the Vendor 

Firm.  Victim Firm Employee C is employed in the accounting department and is familiar with 

the Victim Firm’s practice of mailing checks to vendors.  According to Victim Firm Employee 

C, the Victim Firm typically mails checks within days from the time that they are signed.  The 

checks are typically sent directly to the vendor via the United States Postal Service.  According 

to Victim Firm Employee C, the Victim Firm followed the foregoing practice with respect to the 

checks it issued to the Vendor Firm.   
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16. On several occasions between March 11, 2011 and May 14, 2012, Tresch 

instructed his assistant, Victim Firm Employee D, to check on the status of his requests that the 

Vendor Firm receive payment for the invoices it had submitted to the Victim Firm.  For example, 

on September 15, 2011, at 7:10 a.m., Tresch sent an e-mail to Victim Firm Employee D and 

asked her to “check on invoice #0811011 for [the Vendor Firm].”  Based on my review of the 

invoices the Vendor Firm submitted to the Victim Firm, I believe the invoice to which Tresch 

referred was the invoice dated August 11, 2011 in the amount of $57,450 for “VM Migration 

Planning, Data Center Services and Backup Design.”  

17. Later that same day, at 11:35 a.m., Victim Firm Employee D sent an e-mail to 

Tresch explaining that the invoice “has been posted by accounting for payment.”  Based on my 

review of records from the Victim Firm and the Vendor Firm’s corporate account, I know that on 

September 15, 2011, the Victim Firm issued a check in the amount of $57,450 to the Vendor 

Firm at PO Box 464, Itasca, IL 60143.  The Vendor Firm deposited the check in its corporate 

account on September 27, 2011.  On September 28, 2011, the Vendor Firm issued a check to 

Tresch in the amount of $49,500.  Tresch deposited the check in the Tresch Discover account.     

18. Furthermore, on November 14, 2011, at 1:48 p.m., Victim Firm Employee D e-

mailed Tresch, telling him that she would obtain “a copy of the cancelled check [to the Vendor 

Firm] from aug/sep,” forward it to Tresch, and “check on status of sep/oct check [to the Vendor 

Firm].” Later that day, at 3:28 p.m., Victim Firm Employee E, an employee in the accounts 

payable department, e-mailed Victim Firm Employee D.  Victim Firm Employee E attached a 

copy of a cashed check dated September 29, 2011 issued to the Vendor Firm in the amount of 

$54,750.  The check reflects that the Vendor Firm deposited the check into its corporate account 

on October 6, 2011.  Victim Firm Employee E explained that the “other check was just mailed 
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out last Wednesday [November 9, 2011].  So [the Vendor Firm] should have received that one or 

[are] about to receive it.”   

19. On November 15, 2011, at 8:48 a.m., Victim Firm Employee D forwarded the 

foregoing e-mail correspondence to Tresch.  Later that day, at 9:00 a.m., Victim Firm Employee 

D e-mailed Victim Firm Employee E, saying “[the Vendor Firm] received the other check 

today.”  Based on my review of records from the Victim Firm and the Vendor Firm’s corporate 

account, I believe that the “other check” to which Victim Firm Employees D and E referred was   

the November 2, 2011 check in the amount of $56,250 issued to the Vendor Firm at PO Box 464, 

Itasca, IL 60143.  The Vendor Firm deposited the check into its corporate account on November 

15, 2011.  On that same day, the Vendor Firm issued a check to Tresch in the amount of $48,150.  

Tresch deposited the check into the Tresch Discover account.    

20. According to Victim Firm Employee B, in mid-May 2012 he discovered Tresch’s 

authorization of payment to the Vendor Firm for work it had not performed.  Victim Firm 

Employee B ultimately notified other employees of the Victim Firm of his discovery.  As a 

result, on Monday, June 25, 2012, Victim Firm Employee A, Victim Firm Employee F, and 

Victim Firm Employee G interviewed Tresch.  During the interview, Tresch falsely claimed that 

he had not received any financial benefit from the Vendor Firm.  Tresch claimed that his wife 

had once received a paycheck from the Vendor Firm for work that lasted a couple of days.  

Tresch admitted that he had no proof that the Vendor Firm had in fact done the work it claimed 

in the invoices the Vendor Firm submitted to Tresch at the Victim Firm between April 21, 2011 

and May 9, 2012.   At some point during the interview, Tresch asked if he was going to jail.  At 

the conclusion of the interview, the Victim Firm placed Tresch on leave. 
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21. On June 27, 2012, Tresch had a telephone conversation with Victim Firm 

Employee F and Victim Firm Employee G.  During the conversation, Tresch stated that his wife 

was a housewife and had never worked for the Vendor Firm.  Tresch claimed that he had worked 

for the Vendor Firm for one day prior to his employment with the Victim Firm.  Tresch asserted 

that the Vendor Firm had paid him $80 for his work.  On June 28, 2012, the Victim Firm fired 

Tresch by telephone.  

22. Based on my review of the Tresch Discover account, the Tresch Itasca account 

and other financial records, I believe that the funds contained in the accounts constitute and are 

derived from proceeds traceable to Tresch’s violations of the mail fraud statute, and that Tresch 

used some of the proceeds of his scheme to purchase and/or make payments on the following 

vehicles.   

a. According to a representative of Itasca Bank, as of August 29, 2012 at 

9:10 a.m., the Tresch Itasca account had a balance of $26,653.94.  Since or about August 29, 

2011, Tresch deposited approximately $44,000 in proceeds from the scheme into the Tresch 

Itasca account.  In addition, Tresch transferred at least $463,000 in proceeds from the scheme 

from the Tresch Discover account to the Tresch Itasca account.  The government is seeking a 

warrant to seize funds not to exceed the current balance of $26,653.94 in the Tresch Itasca 

account. 

b. According to records received from Discover Financial, as of July 31, 

2012, the Tresch Discover account had a balance of $203,623.49.  Since on or about August 29, 

2011, Tresch deposited approximately $666,250  in proceeds from the scheme into the Tresch 

Discover account.  The government is seeking a warrant to seize funds not to exceed the last 

known balance of $203,623.49 in the Tresch Discover account.   
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c. According to Illinois Secretary of State records, on or about April 8, 2011, 

Tresch purchased a 2011 Coleman Niagara RV Camping Trailer, VIN 4CG633H10B7227300 

(“the Coleman Niagara RV”).  Based on financial records pertaining to the transaction, Tresch 

financed the purchase price of the Coleman Niagara RV, $11,075, through North Shore Bank of 

Brookfield, Wisconsin.  Beginning in or around June, 2011, Tresch caused regular monthly 

online payments for the Coleman Niagara RV to be made from the Tresch Itasca account to 

North Shore Bank.  In March 2012, Tresch retired the loan on the Coleman Niagara RV by 

submitting a check to North Shore Bank drawn on the Tresch Itasca account in the amount of 

$10,549.98.   

d. According to Illinois Secretary of State records, on or about April 5, 2012, 

Tresch purchased a 2012 Chevrolet Express G3500 van, VIN 1GAZG1FG7C1103369 (“the 

Chevrolet van”).  Records from the Tresch Itasca account reflect that on April 5, 2012, Tresch 

wrote a check to Castle Chevrolet in the amount of $36,425.52.  The memo line on the check has 

the word “van.”  Based on the foregoing, I believe that Tresch’s check to Castle Chevrolet was 

payment for the Chevrolet van.    

e. According to Illinois Secretary of State records, on or about May 4, 2011, 

Tresch purchased a Stone Canyon Lodge park model cabin, VIN SCL1399AL (“the Stone 

Canyon Lodge mobile home”).  Stone Canyon Lodge's web site, last checked on August 27, 

2012, shows the Stone Canyon Lodge mobile home to be a prefabricated housing unit on wheels.  

Records for the Tresch Itasca account reflect that on January 28, 2011, Tresch caused a wire 

transfer of $12,000 to be sent to Stone Canyon Lodge.  The records further reflect that on May 4, 

2011, Tresch caused a wire transfer to be sent to Stone Canyon Lodge in the amount of $29,100.  

Based on the foregoing, I believe that Tresch caused the wire transfers to be sent to Stone 
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Canyon Lodge as payment for the Stone Canyon Lodge mobile home.  To date, I have been 

unable to determine if Tresch’s wire transfers to Stone Canyon Lodge constituted payment in full 

for the Stone Canyon Lodge mobile home.   

f. According to Illinois Secretary of State records, on or about September 1, 

2011, Tresch purchased a 2011 Cadillac DTS Premium, VIN 1G6KH5E66BU128432 (“the 

Cadillac DTS”).  Based on my review of the Tresch Itasca account, Tresch financed at least part 

of his purchase of the Cadillac DTS US Bank of Oshkosh, Wisconsin.  Between October 2011 

and June 2012, Tresch caused monthly online payments of $710 for the Cadillac to be made 

from the Tresch Itasca account to US Bank.   

g. The Tresch Itasca account, the Tresch Discover account, the Coleman 

Niagara RV, the Chevrolet van, the Stone Canyon Lodge mobile home, and the Cadillac DTS 

constitute and are derived from proceeds traceable to violations of the mail fraud statute.   
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CONCLUSION 

23. Based upon the information set forth above, there is probable cause to believe that 

Tresch knowingly devised and intended to devise a scheme to defraud, and to obtain money from 

the Victim Firm, by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, and 

material omissions, and that for the purpose of executing the scheme to defraud knowingly 

caused to be sent and delivered by the United States Postal Service according to direction 

thereon to the Vendor Firm, PO Box 464, Itasca, IL, 60143 a check dated November 2, 2011 in 

the amount of $56,250 for work that defendant falsely represented was performed at the Victim 

Firm, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341.  Further, there is probable cause 

to believe that the Tresch Itasca account, the Tresch Discover account, the Coleman Niagara, the 

Chevrolet van, the Stone Canyon Lodge mobile home, and the Cadillac DTS are subject to 

seizure and forfeiture civilly pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(c), 981(b)(1), and 28 U.S.C. 

§ 2461(c) . 

 
_______________________________ 
A. Wesley Nevens, Special Agent 
Federal Bureau of Investigation 

 
 
SUBSCRIBED and SWORN TO before  
me this                 day of August, 2012 
 
 
_______________________________   
Sidney I. Schenkier 
United States Magistrate Judge 


